SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PANNELL KERR FORSTER,

Petitioner,

vs .

VAUGHN DURHAM, et al.,

Respondents.

MAY 22 1990



CASE NO. 75,529

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ALBERTO A. MACIA, ESQ. ALLEN P. REED, ESQ.

Shea & Gould 1428 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 372-2000

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, Pannell Kerr Forster ("PKF"), has invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered January 24, 1990. A 551, 558. This Court accepted jurisdiction on April 24, 1990. A 569.

Respondents, Vaughn Durham, et al., were defendants in an action arising out of a failed condominium hotel project in Palm Beach, Florida, known as the Palm Court Hotel. A 1. Respondents had purchased 66 condominium units in the Palm Court Hotel, and when the hotel failed financially, Respondents ceased making payments on their units. A 1. Palm Court, Inc., the owner and developer of the Palm Court Hotel, filed a complaint against Respondents to foreclose the 66 promissory notes and mortgages on Respondents' condominium units. A 1. Respondents counterclaimed for rescission, and the case went to trial in the form of a "first wave" severed proceeding designed to resolve only those claims between Palm Court, Inc. and a limited number of A 1-2. On March 28, **1988**, after a five week Respondents. nonjury trial, the trial court issued a Memorandum Opinion in which it found in favor of Respondents and against Palm Court, A 1-32. The court held that "the unit owners are entitled to rescission and to an award of incidental damages," A 31.

^{.....}

[&]quot;The Appendix To Petitioner's Brief On The Merits will be cited as "A (page number(s))."

Subsequently, on May 31, 1988, Respondents served a counterclaim on PKF, an accounting firm. A 41A, 42.² In their counterclaim, Respondents allege that Palm Court, Inc. retained PKF to prepare studies for the proposed hotel, and on June 30, 1985, four months prior to the scheduled opening of the Palm Court Hotel, PKF prepared an inaccurate "Market Demand Report" and an inaccurate "Financial Forecast And Financial Projections," in which PKF inaccurately "forecast[ed] the market demand and financial forecast for the Hotel." A 45-47, 89-92. Respondents allege that Palm Court, Inc. included these forecasts in a Confidential Private Placement Memorandum, which Palm Court, Inc. disseminated to prospective investors, including Respondents, during November and December of 1985 for purposes of inducing sales of the hotel units. A 45-47, 89-92.³

Specifically, Respondents' counterclaim against PKF alleges:

14. Counter-Defendant, PANNELL KERR FORSTER ("PKF") is an accounting and consulting firm with offices in and doing business in Palm Beach County, Florida. PKF prepared a "Market Demand Report" and a "Financial Forecast and Financial Projections" which were used by PCI to market the securities offering which is the subject of this suit.

- - -

Respondents' counterclaim against PKF is actually a third party complaint, since PKF is not a plaintiff in the original proceeding. A 1, 41A, 42.

³Eleven of the Respondents admit in the counterclaim that they "at no time prior to closing [on their units] received a copy of the Memorandum." A 47. This alone requires reversal of the Fourth District's decision that these 11 Respondents have a cause of action against PKF. A 551-557.

18. In an effort to sell THE PALM COURT to numerous investors, PCI [Palm Court, Inc.] sponsored a securities offering ("the Offering") of the 66 rooms within THE PALM COURT (hereinafter referred to as "units"). The Offering was conducted pursuant to the terms of a Confidential Private Placement Memorandum dated June 30, 1985 as amended by an addendum dated October 15, 1985 (collectively referred to as "the Memorandum").

. . .

- 21. During November and/or December of 1985, the Memorandum and numerous other documents used in connection with the Offering were distributed by PCI and/or its agents to each of the Purchasers, with the exception of [11 purchasers], who at no time prior to closing received a copy of the Memorandum. . . .
- 22. On approximately December 29, 1985, each Purchaser purchased one or more units in THE PALM COURT pursuant to the Offering at a closing.

. . .

COUNT XXIII NEGLIGENCE AGAINST PKF

Counter-Claimants reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 24 above as if fully set forth herein.

- 185. In connection with the Palm Court Securities Offering, PKF was retained by PCI to prepare a "Market Demand Report" and a "Financial Forecast and Financial Projections" relating to the Palm Court Hotel.
- 186. At all times PKF had actual knowledge of the fact that the reports it was retained to prepare would be included in an Offering Memorandum that was to be used by PCI to market the Palm Court Securities. In fact, PKF provided PCI with express permission to include both the Market Demand Report and the Financial Forecast and Financial Projections as exhibits to the Offering Memorandum.

187. Because each of the Purchasers were intended and foreseeable beneficiaries of the PKF studies, and further because PKF knew that the Purchasers would rely on said studies in making a determination as to whether to invest in the Palm Court Securities Offering, PKF owed each of the Purchasers the duty to conduct its studies in accordance with standards used by reasonable prudent professionals of PKF's experience and expertise, under the circumstances involved.

188. In connection with the Market Demand Report and the Financial Forecast and Financial Projections, PKF breached its duty of care to the Purchasers by negligently compiling the data necessary to forecast the market demand and financial forecast for the Hotel, and by negligently analyzing the data which was compiled. As a result of PKF's failure to exercise the care and skill that a prudent professional would exercise under the circumstances in compiling the data and formulating the studies, the reports prepared and contained in the Offering Memorandum were grossly inaccurate even assuming the assumptions underlying the studies had come into fruition.

189. PKF's negligence in connection with the Market Demand study and "Financial Forecast and Financial Projections" compiled in connection with the Palm Court Offering has proximately caused damage to each of the Purchasers.

WHEREFORE, the Purchasers demand judgment against PKF for compensatory damages, interest, costs, such other relief as this Court deems appropriate.

<u>COUNT XXIV</u> GROSS NEGLIGENCE AGAINST PKF

Counter-Claimants reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 24 and Count XXIII above as if fully set forth herein.

190. Prior to the time the Palm Court Offering was allegedly consummated, PKF obtained actual knowledge of the fact that its "Market Demand Report" and "Financial Forecast and Financial Projections" were not reliable

due to numerous changes in conditions that had occurred between the time the studies were completed and the fall of 1985, approximately two months prior to the alleged closing of the offering. Specifically, PKF knew that many of the assumptions on which its studies were based did not, and in fact would not come into fruition, and it knew, or had formed an opinion that the proposed management of the Hotel would be unable to provide the type of service which was necessary in order for PKF's studies to remain valid and an accurate forecast for Hotel operations.

- 191. Notwithstanding the fact that PKF obtained knowledge that its studies were invalid, or materially inaccurate, at least two months prior to the time the Palm Court Securities Offering was allegedly closed, PKF took absolutely no action whatsoever to modify its studies, nor did it direct the sponsor of the Offering to cease using the studies as a basis for marketing the Palm Court Securities. This is so even though PKF had given PCI express permission to utilize its studies in connection with marketing the Offering, and even though PKF knew that prospective purchasers would be relying upon said studies in making a determination as to whether to participate in the Offering.
- 192. PKF's failure to take any action subsequent to the time it knew that its studies were invalid, or materially inaccurate, constituted a reckless and wanton disregard for the rights of the prospective purchasers who were intended beneficiaries of PKF's studies.
- 193. PKF's refusal to take any action in connection with the Offering after it obtained the knowledge set forth above constituted gross negligence which has proximately caused injury to each of the Purchasers.

WHEREFORE, the Purchasers demand judgment against PKF for compensatory damages, costs, interest, and such other relief as this Court deems appropriate.

Counter-Claimants reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 24 and Counts XXIII and XXIV above as if fully set forth herein.

- 194. As a result of it giving PCI express permission to use its studies in connection with marketing the Palm Court Securities Offering, PKF assumed a fiduciary duty to the prospective investors in the offering. PKF was therefore obligated to exercise the highest duty of loyalty and care toward the rights of said purchasers.
- 195. By failing to take any action to prevent use of the studies by PCI or to warn the Purchasers that the studies were invalid or materially inaccurate after receiving actual knowledge of such, PKF breached its fiduciary obligations to the perspective purchasers of the Palm Court securities. PKF's breach of its fiduciary obligations to the investors was in reckless and wanton disregard of their rights as intended beneficiaries of the PKF studies.
- 196. PKF's reckless and wanton breach of fiduciary duty in total disregard to the rights of the Purchasers has proximately caused the Purchasers to suffer substantial injury.

WHEREFORE, the Purchasers demand judgment against PKF for compensatory damages, interest, costs and such other relief as this Court deems appropriate.

A 45-48, 89-92.

PKF filed a motion to dismiss the counterclaim, arguing that because PKF and Respondents were not in privity of contract, and in fact the counterclaim does not allege privity of contract, PKF is not liable to Respondents. A 33-39. PKF also argued that Respondents do not allege reliance upon the PKF studies. A 33-39.

On October 24, 1988, the trial court granted PKF's motion and entered an order dismissing Respondents' counterclaim against PKF. A 120-121. The trial court relied on <u>Gordon v. Etue</u>, <u>Wardlaw & Co.</u>, 511 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), in which the First District Court of Appeal held that "an accountant is not liable to persons with whom there is no privity of contract.''

Id. at 389; A 121.

Respondents appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and on January 24, 1990, the Fourth District reversed the trial court. A 551. Acknowledging that the First District in Gordon, as well as the Second District in First Florida Bank, N.A. v. Max Mitchell & Co., 541 So.2d 155 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), quashed, 558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990), had held that an accountant is not liable to persons with whom there is no privity of contract, the Fourth District nevertheless decided that "we are not bound by the Gordon decision and, in fact, we disagree with it." A 553. Although Respondents' counterclaim against PKF does not allege privity of contract, A 45-48, 89-92, the Fourth District held that it "state(s) a cause of action against the accountants." A 553. The court recognized conflict with Gordon and First Florida Bank. A 557.

In its opinion, however, the Fourth District did not address PKF's argument that regardless of the privity issue, PKF's studies were opinions of future events, specifically economic forecasts for a proposed hotel that was not then open or in operation; Respondents could not justifiably rely on the studies; and any inaccuracy in the economic forecasts cannot support an

action for misrepresentation. A 541-542. On February 1, 1990, PKF filed in the Fourth District a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. A 558. On April 24, 1990, this Court accepted jurisdiction. A 569.

Prior to accepting jurisdiction, this Court, in <u>First Florida Bank</u>, N.A. v. <u>Max Mitchell & Co.</u>, 558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990), held that absence of privity does not bar an action against an accountant. <u>Id</u>. at 14. That decision, however, does not address the liability of an accountant for an erroneous opinion of future events, specifically an inaccurate economic forecast for a proposed hotel that was not open for business at the time the forecast was prepared. <u>See id</u>.

<u> ISSUE</u>

Whether An Accountant May Be Held Liable To Purchasers Of Units In A Condominium Hotel Not Yet In Operation, Based Upon The Accountant's Forecast Of Market Conditions And Estimates Of Future Revenues And Expenses Of The Hotel

- 9 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The studies prepared by PKF for Palm Court, Inc. were a Market Demand Report and a Financial Forecast And Financial Projections. They were completed on June 30, 1985, four months prior to the scheduled November 1985 opening of the Palm Court Hotel. The studies forecasted market and financial conditions for the proposed hotel for the period commencing November 1985 and ending December 1995. Because these economic forecasts were mere opinions of future events, not statements of present or past fact, as a matter of law they are not actionable, and they cannot render PKF liable to Respondents.

ARGUMENT

The studies prepared by PKF for the proposed Palm Court Hotel were a Market Demand Report and a Financial Forecast And Financial Projections. A 240-296, 410-432. As the counterclaim states, these studies "forecast[ed] the market demand and financial forecast for the Hotel." A 90. They are unlike the audited statements of present or past financial condition found in other accountant liability cases, such as First Florida Bank, in which the accountant prepared "audited financial statements" that reflected the "total assets" and "total liabilities" of the accountant's client. 558 So.2d at 10.

Rather, the PKF studies were merely opinions of future events, specifically economic forecasts for a proposed hotel that was not then open for business. A 240-296, 410-432. They did not assess the current financial condition of the Palm Court Hotel, or Palm Court, Inc. A 240-296, 410-432. Indeed, the PKF forecasts were completed on June 30, 1985, A 302, and the Palm Court Hotel was not scheduled to open for business until four months later, in November 1985. A 246, 413. The Market Demand Report forecasted market conditions, such as estimated occupancy levels and estimated market share, for the Palm Court Hotel for the last two months of 1985 and the years 1986 through 1990. A 253-254, 283, 286. The Financial Forecast And Financial

⁴It in fact did not open until late December 1985. A 15-16.

Projections estimated income and cash flow for the Palm Court Hotel for the last two months of 1985 and the years 1986 through 1995. A 415, 426-432.

The inherently speculative nature of these economic forecasts is evident from the studies themselves. The Market Demand Report states:

In accordance with your authorization, we have conducted a review of <u>potential market demand</u> for a <u>proposed</u> 66-unit hotel in Palm Beach, Florida.

The conclusions reached are based on our present knowledge and information with respect to the status of the hotel market in Palm Beach at the completion of our field work in <u>January 1985</u>, and updated research performed in May 1985.

As in all studies of this type the <u>projected</u> occupancies and average daily room rates are based upon competent and efficient management and presume no significant change in the market from that as set forth in this report.

- - -

Pannell Kerr Forster has been retained by Palm Court, Inc., hereafter known as the sponsor, to study the existing and potential market demand and to prepare estimates of future performance for the renovated [Palm Court] Hotel. . . .

. . .

It is our understanding that all renovation work will be completed by the first of November 1985, enabling The Palm Court to operate fully during November and December of this year.

. . .

Our study involved determining the demand for the <u>proposed</u> hotel's rooms, services, and related amenities. To assess the market and to project the potential future demand and share of the market that could reasonably be attained by the property, we followed a four-step procedure. . .

- - -

states:

Our study and estimates of future performance in the marketplace are based on the assumption that The Palm Court will be operated as a luxurious hotel. The commitment on the part of the sponsor and management to have the level of quality described to us, will determine whether the results in this report will be achievable.

A 240, 242, 246, 250, 254 (emphasis added).

The Financial Forecast And Financial Projections

The appended <u>forecasted</u> financial information and accompanying summary of forecast assumptions for each of the periods indicated from November 1985 through December 31, 1995 present, to the best of the knowledge and belief of Palm Court, Inc. (the "Sponsor"), based on present circumstances, the <u>expected</u> income and cash flow for the <u>forecast</u> periods for The Palm Court, a <u>proposed</u> 66-unit hotel/condominium.

We have reviewed the <u>forecast</u> in accordance with applicable quidelines for a review of financial forecast established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Our review included those procedures we considered necessary to evaluate both the <u>assumptions</u> used by the Sponsor and the preparation and presentation of the <u>forecast</u>. We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring <u>after the date of this report</u>.

Based on our review, we believe that the accompanying forecast is presented in conformity with applicable guidelines for presentation of a financial forecast established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We believe that the underlying assumptions provide a reasonable basis for the Sponsor's forecast. However, some assumptions inevitably will not materialize and unanticipated events and

circumstances may occur; therefore, the actual results achieved during the forecast period will vary from the forecast and the variations may be material.

. . .

The Assumptions set forth below are those that the Sponsor believes are significant to the forecast or are key factors upon which the income and cash flow before Unit Owner's expenditures and cost (depreciation) depend. Some assumptions inevitably will not materialize, and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur subsequent to June 30, 1985, the date of this forecast. Therefore, the actual results achieved during the forecast period will vary from the forecast, and the variations may be material. . .

forecasted statement sets forth expected income and cash flow before Unit Owner's direct expenditures and cost recovery (depreciation) at the <u>forecasted</u> average room rates and occupancy <u>levels</u> for the hotel Although it may be possible that ("Hotel"), the Hotel will be open and operating prior to November 1985, the financial forecast assumes operations as of November 1985 and reflects operating results for the remaining calendar year. • • The forecasted statement should not be relied upon to indicate actual results. Since this is a condominium/hotel, the tax and other consequences of owning and operating a cannot be predicted with any certainty, and there is no assurance that the . . cash flow in the amount projected by the Sponsor from Hotel operations will ever be realized in any year or from year to year.

A 410-411, 413-414 (emphasis added).

The significance of the distinction between economic forecasts and audited statements of present or past financial condition is that Florida law does not recognize a cause of action for an erroneous opinion of future events, such as an

economic forecast for a proposed business not yet in operation. This Court long ago identified those misrepresentations that do give rise to a cause of action:

To entitle a party to maintain an action for deceit by means of false representations, he must, among other things, show that the false fraudulent defendant made and assertions in regard to some fact or facts material to the transaction in which he was defrauded, by means of which he was induced to enter into it. The misrepresentation must relate to alleged facts, or to the condition of things as then existent. It is not every misrepresentation relating to the subjectmatter of the contract which will render it void, or enable the aggrieved party to maintain an action for deceit. It must be as to matters of fact substantially affecting his interests, not as to matters of opinion, judgment, probability, or expectation.

Williams v. McFadden, 1 So. 618, 620 (Fla. 1887) (emphasis added). Accord, Houghins v. Case, 189 So. 402, 404 (Fla. 1939).

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