SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,529

PANNELL KERR FORSTER,

Petitioner,

'S.

'AUGHN DURHAM, et al., :

Respondents.

JUN 13 1000

Depart tiers

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL A. HANZMAN, ESQ.

FLOYD PEARSON RICHMAN GREER WEIL ZACK & BRUMBAUGH, P.A. CourtHouse Center, 26th Floor 175 N.W. First Avenue Miami, Florida 33128-1817 Telephone: (305) 373-4000

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The argument that Respondents' Counterclaim fails to state a cause of action on the grounds that the PKF studies were mere opinions of future events was never raised in the trial court or addressed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Accordingly, this Court should not be the <u>first</u> tribunal to deal with this issue because (a) it has no jurisdiction to do so, and (b) it has long been recognized that the Supreme Court will not review matters which lower courts have not had an opportunity to consider.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to decide to address the argument raised by Petitioner, the contention that Respondents' Counterclaim does not state a cause of action because the economic forecast are mere opinions of future events is frivolous. The decisions PKF relies upon which stand for the proposition that a prediction of future events cannot, standing alone, be a basis for fraud, have nothing to do with the issue in this case. Here Respondents are not suing PKF for fraud based upon the allegation that it knew its reports were unreliable at the time issued. They are suing PKF for negligence in the preparation of the reports; that is, the failure to use the degree of care which would be followed by a competent professional specializing in the business of preparing such forecasts, as does PKF.

Respondents are also suing PKF for failing to take corrective measures with respect to its forecasts after it had <u>actual knowledge</u> of the fact that its forecasts were totally unreliable.

Accordingly, the decisions relied upon by PKF simply have nothing to do with the case at hand, and the allegations raised by Respondents state a cause of action.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ADDRESS THE ISSUE RAISED BY PKF IN IT8 BRIEF ON THE MERITS.

As previously mentioned, the <u>only</u> argument raised by PKF in its brief on the merits is the contention that because its economic forecasts were opinions of future events, they are not actionable as a matter of law. This argument was never raised in PKF's motion to dismiss filed in the trial court. (A = 33-39). Furthermore, it was never even mentioned, let alone addressed, by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (A = 551-557). Accordingly, this Court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to entertain that argument here.³

Moreover, despite the jurisdictional obstacle, this Court has consistently maintained that it should decline to review questions which the trial court did not have a full and adequate opportunity to consider. In re Beverly, 342 So.2d 481, 489 (Fla. 1977) ("This Court should decline the review of questions which the trial court did not have a full and adequate opportunity to consider"); Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322, 1323, 1324 (Fla. 1981) ("appellate court

As pointed out in our pending "Motion to Dismiss Appeal for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction" the Fourth District's opinion below certainly does not "expressly and directly" conflict with any decision on the point of law now being argued by the Petitioner, since the opinion below never mentions the issue now being advanced.

will not consider issues not presented to the trial judge either on appeal from an order of dismissal, or on appeal from final judgment on the merits". Citations omitted). As this Court made clear in Lipe v. City of Miami, 141 So.2d 738 (Fla. 1962):

The record is devoid of a single fact which would indicate that this question was ever before the trial court. It is a rule of longstanding that on appeal this Court will confine itself to a review of those questions, and only those questions, which were before the trial court. Matters not presented to the trial court by the pleadings or ruled upon by the trial court will not be considered by this Court on appeal.

Id. at 743. (Emphasis added). <u>See also</u>, <u>Northeast Polk County</u>

<u>Hospital District v. Snively</u>, 162 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1964) (Supreme

Court is required to review only that which trial judge has had an opportunity to consider).4

Although this Court has departed from the above-referenced rule in order to address fundamental questions of law, such as questions regarding the constitutionality of a statute, see e.g., Cantor v. Davis, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986); Trushin v. State, 425

Once this Court accepts jurisdiction over a cause in order to resolve the legal issue in conflict, it may, in its discretion, "consider other issues properly raised and argued before this See Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1982) (Supreme Court." Court would consider whether trial judge correctly denied motion to suppress on the merits, even though the district court affirmed trial court on a waiver theory and refused to consider the denial on the merits). See also Neuron v. State, 306 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1974) (after the conflict of decisions became apparent, we were at liberty to consider the case as a whole, including the transcript). These decisions, however, stand only for the proposition that this Court's review of a case is not limited to the question which forms the basis of conflict jurisdiction. They do not stand for the proposition that this Court should consider questions never raised in the trial court.

So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983) (conviction for the violation of facially invalid statute would constitute fundamental error), it has not done so in a situation such as that at bar, where Petitioner has raised on appeal for the first time a typical, non-fundamental legal argument which was never addressed in the trial court. On remand Petitioner will certainly have an opportunity to make this argument, and the trial court will rule upon it. In the event Petitioner is dissatisfied with the trial court's decision, it may take an appeal of that decision at the appropriate time and address its arguments to the appellate court. Then, if the decision of the appellate court provides Petitioner with a basis upon which to seek review in this Court, it may do so. However, at this point neither the trial court nor the appellate court has addressed this question, and they should be given an opportunity to do so. this reason alone, this Court should simply remand this matter to the trial court for further proceedings.

II. TEE RESPONDENT COUNTERCLAIM AGAINST PKF STATES A CAUSE OF ACTION.

In its brief on the it r cites im c 33 standing or the i that a "misrepresentation must ordinarily relate to a l or i 't to be the basis of a claim for relief soundi in fraud." See leight v. Sun and Surf Realt ' Inc., 410 So.2d 998 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Evans v. Gray, 215 d 40 a 3d DCA 1968) (sellers alleged misr i as to the credit ut of the company not onab as f Butts v. Draastrem, 349 1 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1 tions as to probable ture profits of trailer park made by seller in connection ith the of a trailer park 1 constitute l <u>fraud</u>); <u>Cavic v. Grand Bahama Dev. Co.</u>, 701 F.2d 879 1th: 1983 (a : n se of t action or predi of future events cannot, standing alone b a j for fraud The basis for this rule is that a predicti of future event "is representat ier is n t to rely on it and it is not 1 made." _____, <u>supra</u>, at 883 Respondents have absolutely no quarrel w the bovereferenced pri of aw In our opinion the rule is both sound sett I 1 ar 1 has nothing to do w 1 th s presented in this case since Respondents are not alleging that the prepared PKF tit f dul representations. What we do lege is that the report were negligently prepared. That is, 1 l that the accountants, 1 were ts retained

to e the reports, d t exercise the care and skill that

a prudent professional would exercise under the circumstances in compiling the data and formulating the studies. (A - 90). other words, it is our position that the accountants committed malpractice. No one has sued them for fraud based upon the allegation that the studies constituted a representation of existing fact which the accountants knew was incorrect at the time it was made. Thus, unlike the situation presented in the decisions relied upon by Petitioner, we are not dealing with a case where a seller of a business is being sued based upon the allegation that he or she misrepresented the business! future earning capacity. Rather we are again involved in a case where an accounting firm, which holds itself out as an expert in preparing market demand reports and feasibility forecasts, is being sued by persons who relied upon those forecasts, based upon the contention that they were negligently prepared. Consequently, the rule that predictions of future events cannot form the basis of an action for fraud, has nothing to do with the issue at hand.

If PKF's assertion that it is insulated from liability because its forecasts were predictions of future events (as opposed to existing fact) is accepted by this Court, it will mean that accountants retained to prepare such studies are absolutely, under all circumstances, immune from suit. Thus, a party could retain an accounting firm which held itself out as an expert in preparing such studies, pay the accounting firm substantial monies for the preparation of the studies, and be left without any remedy against the accounting firm in the event it failed to exercise even the

slightest degree of care in compiling the data and putting together the report. Obviously this is not the law, and Petitioner's reliance upon the above-referenced rule in order to attempt to insulate itself from liability under these circumstances is severely misplaced.

Equally misplaced is Petitioner's reliance upon the cases it cites decided under the federal securities laws. Each of those cases stands for the same proposition as the Florida cases set forth above. Stated differently, they each involved a situation where a party was suing either the seller of the securities or the accounting firm for securities fraud based alleged upon "intentional misrepresentations as to the potential cash and tax benefits of the partnership". Luce v. Edelstein, 802 F.2d 49, 56 (2d Cir. 1986). See also Nichols v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 706 F. Supp. 1309, 1327 (M.D. Tenn. 1989) (accounting firm could not be held liable for securities <u>fraud</u> (i.e., 10(b)-5) based upon its preparing estimates of future rental income, since "it is by no means clear how Laventhal could have had scienter, since it was predicting a future event"); Andreo v. Friedlander, Gaines, Cohen. Rosenthal & Rosenberg, 651 F.Supp. 877 (D. Conn. 1986) (plaintiffs claimed that accountants were part of a scheme to defraud them in violation of the federal securities laws and the federal racketeering statute); <u>In re National Smelting</u>, 722 F. Supp. 152 (D.N.J. 1989) (accounting firm hired to audit a startup balance sheet of company could not be held liable for misrepresentation under 10(b)-5).

What can be gleaned from the above cases is that they are nerely an application (in a securities setting) of the rule that a prediction of future events cannot constitute actionable fraud or misrepresentation. This is made clear by the court's discussion in the case of <u>Isquith v. Middle South Utilities</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 847 F.2d 186 (5th Cir. 1988):

Courts in the past have consistently recognized that a defendant does not place itself beyond the reach of the securities laws merely by disclosing information that is predictive in For example, when necessary, courts have readily conceded that predictions may be regarded as "facts" within the meaning of the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws. See Marx v. Computer Sciences Corp., 507 F.2d 485, 489 (9th Cir. 1974); Abrams v. Oppenheimer Gov't Sec., Inc., 589 F.Supp. 4, 9 (N.D. Ill. 1983); Eichen v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 402 F. Supp. 823, 829 (S.D. Cal. 1975). Most often, whether liability is imposed depends on whether the predictive statement was "false" when it was The answer to this inquiry, however, made. does not turn on whether the prediction in fact proved to be wrong; instead, falsity is determined by examining the nature of the prediction-with the emphasis on whether the suggested reliability, prediction caution, was made in good faith, or had a sound factual or historical basis. See, e.g., Luce v. Edelstein, 802 F.2d 49, 56 (2d Cir. 1986); Eisenberg v. Gagnon, 766 F.2d 770, 775 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 946, 106 S.Ct. 342, 88 L.Ed.2d 290 (1985); Goldman v. Belden, 754 F.2d 1059, 1068-69 (2d Cir. 1985); <u>First</u> <u>Virginia Bankshares v. Benson</u>, 559 F.2d 1307, 1314 (5th Cir. 1977); Polin v. Conductron Corp., 552 F.2d 797, 804-7 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 857, 98 S.Ct. 178, 54 L.Ed.2d 129 (1977); Marx, 507 F.2d at 490; G & M, Inc. v. Newbern, 488 F.2d 742, 745-56 (9th Cir. 1978); Alfaro v. E.F. Hutton & Co., 606 F. Supp. 1100, 1104 (E.D. Penn. 1985). Because a clear body of law exists which recognizes those circumstances where liability can be imposed under the securities laws for disclosed

predictions, the district court obviously erred in concluding that disclosed predictions are never actionable.

Id. at 203-204. (Emphasis added). In other words, just as a prediction of future events can be actionable in Florida as fraud when the speaker knows the prediction is false when made, such a representation can be actionable under the securities laws. The test is whether the projection "suggested reliability, bespoke caution, was made in good faith, or had a sound factual or historical basis." Id. Thus, PKF's assertion that its studies are per se not actionable even under a fraud theory is incorrect. However, as we have previously emphasized, the allegations before this Court do not sound in fraud. They are negligence and gross negligence claims. The fundamental distinction between these claims and claims for fraud based upon projections was articulated by the court in In re National Smelting of New Jersey, supra, one of the cases relied upon by Petitioner:

[A]ny reliance plaintiffs placed upon Arthur Young's representations contained in its draft of the Financial Forecast would necessarily have to be tempered by the language of review itself, which clearly counseled caution. Luce, supra, at 56. It is difficult, therefore, to fairly ascribe to Arthur Young any awareness that plaintiffs would rely on their word (as opposed to their professional skill in preparing a financial forecast based on unaudited information and assumptions provided by management) in investing in the industrial revenue bonds.

772 F.Supp. at 171. (Emphasis added).

As far as the Respondents' negligence count is concerned, what was being relied upon was not PKF's "word", but rather PKF's

"professional skill" in preparing a financial forecast and market demand report. It is alleged that PKF failed to use the degree of care required in connection with this engagement, and such allegations certainly state a cause of action.

Finally, in addition to alleging that PKF failed to exercise reasonable care in preparing its studies, the counterclaim at issue here also alleges that prior to the closing PKF obtained actual knowledge of the fact that its studies were not reliable, and that PKF knew that many of the assumptions on which its studies were based did not, and in fact would not come into fruition. (A-90-91). Such allegations are clearly actionable.

For example, in <u>Rudolph v. Arthur Anderson & Co.</u>, 800 F.2d 1040 (11th Cir. 1986), Plaintiff alleged that reports and statements prepared by Arthur Anderson were included in a private placement memorandum used to sell limited partnership investments. It further alleged that at some point after the issuance of the placement memo, Arthur Anderson became aware of a scheme whereby Delorean intended to drop the original purpose of the offering and instead divert the funds raised to other uses. In determining that the allegations against Arthur Anderson stated a cause of action for both primary and aiding and abetting liability under Rule 10(b)-5, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that:

Although this court has not considered the issue, <u>but see Woodward</u>, 522 F.2d at 97 n. 28 (listing accountants as an example of groups with "special obligations" imposing duty to disclose), other courts have held that accountants "have a duty to take reasonable steps to correct misstatements they have

discovered in previous financial statements on which they know the public is relying." <u>IIT, An International Investment Trust v. Cornfeld, 619 F.2d 909, 927 (2d Cir. 1980) (citing with approval Fischer v. Kletz, 266 F.Supp. 180, 188 (S.D.N.Y. 1967)). This duty arises from the fact that investors are likely to rely on an accountant's work.</u>

Id. at 1043-44. (Emphasis added). The court then held that:

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